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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF WEST VIRGINIA

HUNTINGTON DIVISION

SCOTTHUTCHISON ENTERPRISES, INC.,
Plaintiff,
V. Gase No.: 3:15-cv-13415
CRANBERRY PIPELINE CORPORATION and
CABOT OIL & GAS CORPORATION,

Defendants.

MEMORANDUM OPINION and ORDER

On November 18, 2016, the parties appeared forearihng on Defendants’
Renewed Motion to Compel Production oaRitiff's Financial Information, (ECF No.
181), and Plaintiff's Motion for Sanctions, G No. 182). Having considered the written
materials and the arguments presented by couniselCourtDENIES Defendants’
motion to compel an@&RANTS Plaintiffs motion for sanctins as set forth below.

l. Relevant Facts

This civil action involves a gas pipelimevned by Defendants, which is located on
real property purchased by Plaintiff fahe purpose of developing a residential
subdivision (“Ridgewood Subdivision”). Thgipeline (also referred to as the “C-1004
pipeline”) is 13 miles in legth, crosses over land in both Wayne and Cabelhtes,
and was constructed by Owens lllinois &aCompany in approximately 1962. In 1970,
Defendants, or a subsidiary or predecessor of Didens, purchased the C-1004

pipeline and has used it toammsport gas since its purchase.
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The dispute between the parties aosn 2013 when Plaintiff began
improvements on an existing roadwaytime Ridgewood Subdivision, which involved
excavating the earth above and around pipeline. When Defendants learned of the
excavation activities, they requested thadifliff cease work, fearing that the pipeline
would rupture and potentially cause bodily injury, even death. Plaintiff ceased
operations, and the property has been sittungdeveloped, since that time. Plaintiff
alleges that Defendants’ piliee renders the Ridgewood Subdivision undevelopabl
Consequently, Plaintiff has asserted a varieft claims against Defendants, including
trespass, unjust enrichment, and negligetrcdurn, Defendants filed a counterclaim,
assertingnter aliathat they have a prescriptive easement for theiporfthe C-1004
pipeline located in the Ridgewood Subdivis. Defendants claim that they did not
receive permission from Plaintiff or anyipr owner of the Ridgewood Subdivision to
place, operate, or maintain the C-1004 pipex that they have operated the pipeline
continuously for more than ten years; thag tiperation ofthe C-1004 pipeline has been
open and notorious; and that the operatiobhefpipeline has been adverse to Plaintiff
and his predecessors in title to the Ridgewood 8u$idn.

. Defendants’ Renewed Motion to Cmpel Production of Plaintiff’'s
Financial Information

During the course of discovery, Defendants movedcompel production of
Plaintiff's state and federal income tax returnsahcial statements, and restated
financial statements for the years 2011 through52@efendants argued that the
information was highly relevant to Plaintdfdamages; in particular, its claim for the
alleged loss of profits that Plaintiff would hakealized from the sale of residential lots

at the Ridgewood Subdivision.



Ultimately, the Court issued an Ordeompelling Plaintiff to produce its
“financial statements (or portions thereofr similar documents, for the years 2011
through 2015 that reflect Plaintiff's operanial expenses, losses, and profits related to
the development of residential subdivision@E'CF No. 123 at 8). The Court denied the
motion insofar as it sought productionfofancial records for Plaintiff's other business
operations, such as its car washes, noting Baintiff was not claiming a loss of past
profits; rather, it was seeking the loss of futymefits related only to the Ridgewood
Subdivision, an anticipated but not yet ongoingtwee. (d.). The Court also denied the
request for Plaintiffs tax returns, statingath“[i]f financial records exist reflecting
Plaintiffs history and experience in sitar residential development ventures, then
Defendants should learn from that finangrd@formation whether there is any data that
can be used for comparison and extrapolation,” fatitthis juncture, no compelling
reason for the production of tax returinas been demonstrated by Defendantsl.” &t
9).

Defendants have now renewed the foregaimmotion to compel on the basis that
Plaintiff's “overall financial information isdirectly relevant and necessary to the
calculation of future lost business profits besa certain expenses used to calculate the
company’s profits or losses are not reflected oe thcome statement produced,”
including “the money that [Plaintiff] paidor the property itself and the company’s
general overhead.” (ECF No. 181 at 3). Defants argue that other critical information
is not reflected in the financial recorddready produced. Specifically, Defendants
contend that the records do not demonstrate hom#flaaccounts for depreciation of
real property, in the event Plaintiff takespdeciation expense related to the Ridgewood

Subdivision.



Defendants also explain that they ndedreview all of the requested financial
records to advance their argument that Pisgeneral overheaéxpenses should be
distributed evenly across the company’s busseperations, including an allocation to
the Ridgewood Subdivision, which would remtuPlaintiff's future lost profits in this
action. Defendants claim that, otherwiseaiRtiff could attribute such expenses to
business operations other than the Ridgew8athdivision and artificially inflate the
future lost profits calculation of that compent of the business. Defendants contend
that because Plaintiff—a corporation widil of its business enterprises under one
umbrella—is seeking loss profits, Defendasteould be able to review the company’s
overall financial information; not just portie of information related to the Ridgewood
Subdivision.

In response, Plaintiff argues that Defemds are incorrectly treating the claimed
damages as a loss of past income sufferedrbgxisting business, as opposed to a loss
of potential profits from the inability to devel@pspecific property. (ECF No. 215 at 5).
Plaintiff asserts that Defendants do nmquire additional financial documents to
determine the purchase price of the propémrygause it is stated in the deed, which was
produced to Defendantdd( at 2). Further, regarding haive purchase price will factor
into future lost profits, Plaintiff points out that produced to Defendants income
statements from Island Estates, the oatfier residential subdivision developed by
Plaintiff. (Id. at 3). According to Plaintiff, these income staents show how Plaintiff
allocated corporate overhead and expenses to ieskBesiness venture involving the
development of a residential subdivision. Besa the financial records of Island Estates
were prepared before this litigation, Plaintiff aeg that they are inherently reliable and

accurately reflect the manner by which Plaintould account for general overhead and
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expenses in the Ridgewood Subdivisiddlaintiff contends that its Rule 30(b)(6)
witness, Laya Hutchinson, testified regarg the Island Estates’ income statements,
explaining that Plaintiff deducted a pomioof the property’s purchase price as an
expense from the sale of each lot. She furtiestified that a sintar deduction would be
taken in the case of the Ridgewood Sulglon when the land was developed and the
lots were sold.I@.). As far as general overhead, Plafinindicates that all of its past
overhead expenses relate solely to thegooation’s other business ventures; because
Plaintiff has not started to develop Ridgeyd Subdivision, there are no overhead
expenses for that propertyd( at 1). Plaintiff adds that its expert witness kadato
account the estimated costs of devehapi Ridgewood Subdivision; therefore,
Defendants have all of the reknt financial information.

In reply, Defendants state that theirrpose in seeking the financial information
is to ascertain how Plaintiff accountedrfthe purchase price of the property in
calculating the company’s profits or lossder example, Defendants state that “if
[Plaintiff] is taking depreciation deductioros the property, that would be relevant for
how the company could calculate profit or loss hetfuture upon the sale of the
property.” (ECF No. 255 at 1). Regardirggneral overhead, Defendants state that
Plaintiff “should not be permitted to ‘cherpick’ which aspect of the company it wishes
to advance to recover lost profits and simu#aunsly shield the rest ofthe company from
scrutiny.” (d. at 2). Without access to this finanldaformation, Defendants allege that
Plaintiff can manipulate the alleged profin the subject property by shifting all
overhead expenses to other aspeadtthe company’s operationsd().

During oral argument, Defendants agaimseal the possibility that Plaintiff was

depreciating the property and further argukdt Plaintiff would have to allocate some
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of its general business overhead to theddewood Subdivision, both of which would
affect the projected loss of profits. Daféants argued that without the remaining
financial information, they were unablegfiectively cross-examine the experts on these
considerations. In response, Plaintiffs omel represented that Plaintiff was not
depreciating the property and did not expect taimany additional overhead to develop
the subdivision, because Scott Hutchinsotended to do the labor himself. In any
event, Plaintiff indicated that the costs rteld to developing the property, even those
that were associated with the work Mr. Hailecson intended to perform, were accounted
for in the engineering expert’s report.

Considering these arguments, the undgred finds that Defendants do not
provide any new information or testimonydopport their renewed motion for financial
information. As Plaintiff emphasizes, Defeawuts have received income statements and
financial documentation related to all d&flaintiffs business ventures involving
residential subdivisions. Moreover, Defendarave had an opportunity to depose a
Rule 30(b)(6) witness on the corporationisdncial practices. Defendants have received
the deed to Ridgewood Subdivision, whichosls the purchase price, as well as expert
reports outlining the estimated costs of depéeng the property and the estimated sale
price of each lot. Defendants have ob&d the settlement agreement between Dr.
Lavery and Plaintiff reflecting any incomattributable to Plaintiff related to the
Ridgewood Subdivision. Thus, Defendamptsssess information regarding the purchase
price of the Ridgewood Subdivision, anycome associated with the subdivision, the
method by which Plaintiff allocated and¢@unted for costs and expenses incurred in
developing a similar residential subdivisidhe projected costs and expenses associated

with developing the Ridgewood Subdivisiongetprojected sale price of the lots, and the
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damages associated with the interruptiorthie development process. With respect to
overhead expenses, Defendants’ claims aexsfative at best. Defendants provide no
factual basis to establish the relevancy Rilaintiff's past overhead expenses. For
example, Defendants provide no evidence tRlaintiff considered such expenses in its
previous residential development project, ldaEstates. In fact, the parties’arguments
suggest the contrary. Further, Defendants offertaestimony, expert opinions, or
evidence of any kind to demonstrate that Plairstiélirrent operating expenses should
be attributed to the Ridgewood Subdivision.

Defendants are free to challenge the amounts pregethe method of allocation,
the categories of expenses claimed, or atlyer portions of Plaintiffs calculations
through cross examination, expert testimooywhatever tactic they see fit. However,
they have failed to demonsteathat they are likely to finavithin Plaintiff's remaining
financial documents any undiscovered informatioatttvould help them do so. Thus,
for the reasons stated above, the CoDENIES Defendants’ Renewed Motion to
Compel Production of Plaiiffs Financial Information.

[1. Plaintiff's Motion for Sanctions

A. The Parties’Positions

Addressing the other pending motion, Plaintiff dileinterrogatories and
document requests, seeking evidence religtbn by Defendants to support their
prescriptive easement claim. In particular, Pldfndsked Defendants to identify
evidence showing that the placement oé tG-1004 pipeline through the Ridgewood
Subdivision was without permission and wav@rse or hostile to the ownership rights
of Plaintiff or its predecessors. Plaintiff als@quested the production of any documents

supporting the proposition that Defendantslleaprescriptive easement related to the
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C-1004 pipeline’s placement in the Ridgewood Sulsiow. (ECF No. 182-1 at 2-3).

In response, Defendants ultimatefyroduced 4,447 pages of documents
maintained in a file labeled the C-1004 “pime file.” Upon rece&sing and reviewing the
pipeline file, Plaintiff issuechotices of Rule 30(b)(6) gsition, demanding that the
defendants supply a corporate designee stifieregarding the pipeline file documents
and explain how those documents were regien to Plaintiffs original discovery
requests. After receiving the notices, Defants’ counsel wrote a letter to Plaintiff's
counsel, objecting to the scoptthe proposed deposition3efendants advised that the
pipeline file contained all documents in Detéants’ possession related to construction,
operation, maintenance, repair, and relocatibthe C-1004 pipeline. For the first time,
defense counsel explained to Plaintiffsuesel that the entire pipeline file was
produced, not because it contained direct eviderieglverse or hostile possession, but
rather, because it did not contain any evideoiggermission to lay the C-1004 pipeline
across the Ridgewood Subdivision. Thus, #ibsenceof documentation was proof that
neither Defendants, nor their predecesstia] permission to place the pipeline on
Plaintiff's property. Further, defense counsmetliicated that the file was produced to
demonstrate continuous and open use of the pipelee the years.

Notwithstanding this clarification, Deferdts agreed to produce a Rule 30(b)(6)
designee to testify about how the pipelifie documents were relevant to their
prescriptive easement claim. However, th@fused to produce a witness to testify
“regarding” the documents without furtherespficity as some of the documents were
decades old and were created before Defetslawned and operated the pipeline. When
the parties were unable to agree on the sadprequiry, Defendants filed a motion for a

protective order. In the motion, Defendants reitedatheir agreement to produce a Rule
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30(b)(6) witness to testify about the pipelifle documents and their relevance to the
issues of permission, adverse possessiod,a@mtinuous and open use of the property
at issue. Still, Defendants argued that it would dverly burdensome to prepare a
30(b)(6) witness to testify “regarding” all447 pages of the pipele file. Defendants
asked the Court to place parameters on the scopgbeofjuestioning and to require
Plaintiff's counsel to specify in advance tparticular documents and issues that they
expected to raise with the witness.

The undersigned held a hearing on the motion fotgative order on September
19, 2016. During the hearing, Plaintiff's counsetlicated that tay had reviewed the
voluminous production and wanted to exmdhe reasons why Defendants believed the
documents were relevant and how eabbcument supposedly proved Defendants’
alleged prescriptive easement. Plaintiff's coelhenfirmed that they never intended to
guestion the corporate representatiabout factual events and circumstances
underlying the creation of the documentonsequently, Defendants agreed to the
proposed line of questioning, but maintaindat a protective arer was still necessary
to ensure that Defendants were not expetbtegrepare witnesses beyond the expressed
relevance of the documents. For that @gsand bearing in mind the significant
obligation of a party to properly prepars Rule 30(b)(6) designee, the Court granted
the Motion for Protective Order, placing the follo\g burden on Defendants and
limitation on the scope of inquiry: “Dehdants shall produce designees that are
prepared to testify regarding the relevancyiod pipeline file documents and the role
the documents play in supportingefendants’ claims and defenseSonversely,
Defendants are not required to prepare wimesses to testify regarding the factual

circumstances, events, or details underlyihg documents, or the various reasons for
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creation of the documents.” (ECF No. 162 at 6-7).

Defendants designated Cabot Oil & Gasrporation’s compliance and corrosion
engineer, Robert L. Barrett, as their RulgdB)X{6) witness, and hideposition was taken
on October 6, 2016. (ECF No. 182-3). Thdten Plaintiff filed the instant Motion for
Sanctions, arguing that sanctions are warranteder (1) Fed. R. Civ. P. 37 because Mr.
Barrett was not a properly prepared or knowledged&®l(b)(6) withess and (2) Fed. R.
Civ. P. 26(g) because Defendants’counsel iogarly verified that he reviewed the “over
4,400 pages of documents” produced to Piffiatd certified that they were responsive
to the discovery requests. (ECF No. 183 atPlaintiff attached a statement of fees and
expenses, indicating that it had incurred &at&19,493.32 for its counsel to review the
document production and to take the RBOyb)(6) deposition. (ECF No. 182-2).

In opposition to Plaintiffs Motion, Defendants arg that sanctions are not
warranted because (1) Plaintiff did not attemg confer with Defendants before filing
the motion as required by Local Rule o¥iCProcedure 37.1(b); (2) Defendants did not
violate a court order; and (3) the identifimn of the pipeline file documents as
responsive to the discovery requests was feently reasonable”under Rule 26(g). (ECF
No. 237 at 10). Defendants disagree tNat Barrett was not adequately knowledgeable
or qualified to serve as their Rule 30(b)@ijtness. Further, Defendants assert that
Plaintiff has no right to decide who is tipeoper person to serve as Defendants’ Rule
30(b)(6) designeeld.). Defendants argue that Mr. Batt testified consistently with
their position that the absence of permassiin the pipeline file supported their
prescriptive easement claim; further, Defentkastate that Mr. Barrett testified that the
pipeline documents show the continuous opierapf the pipeline as a whole since its

construction in 1960.1¢d. at 12). As far as the adequacy of Mr. Barretregaration,
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Defendants contend that three to four h®oof document reviewas reasonable given
the limited scope ofthe deposition topics andfdot that Mr. Barrett regularly reviewed
pipeline files. (d. at 13).

Regarding Mr. Barrett’s testimony andetlesponsiveness of the documents to
Plaintiff's discovery requests, Defendants argju&t Plaintiffis making the same type of
circumstantial evidence argument that they clainmproper from Defendantsld. at
16). While Defendants claim that the absenaf permission in the file shows that
permission did not exist, Plaintiff argueébat permission for other sections of the
pipeline shows that Defendantsust have had permissionrfthe pipeline to traverse
the property atissueld.). Therefore, Defendants assert that the pipdileeocuments
are relevant as circumstantial evidendd.). Further, Defendantadicate that the file
is relevant because the pipeline operaasda linear unit and documents concerning
construction, operation, maintenance, repair, dogaion of any section of it were
relevant to show the continuous, open, andeade use of the section of the pipe on the
subject property. I¢l.). Finally, Defendants point téhe fact that they discovered
documents such as deeds, easements, and disendll other pipeline files; therefore,
they argue that the absence of such documénthe C-1004 pipeline file indicates a
lack of any type of permission.

With respect to sanctions, Defendanmtsaintain that Plaintiffs statement of
attorney’s fees is insufficient and thatetffees and expenses were not reasonably
necessary.lfl. at 17). Defendants focus on the falcat Plaintiff's attorney’s fees were
not identified by date and that Plaintiftounsel flew a private plane and rented a car
for the 30(b)(6) deposition as opposed to drivifid.). Finally, Defendants claim that

the fees and expenses were unnecessacguse Plaintiff already knew Defendants’
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position and “did not have to conduct the depositio find out.” (d.).

B. Analysis

Lack of Certification under L. R. Civ. P. 37.1

As an initial matter, the undersigned addresseselddnts’ argument that
Plaintiff's request for sanctions should benied because Plaintiff failed to comply with
L. R. Civ. P. 37.1(b), which requires partieanake a good faith effort to confer in person
or by telephone to narrow the areas of disagreenbefdre filing a discovery motion,
including a motion for sanctions. Certainte failure of a party to comply with L. R.
Civ. P. 37.1(b) may provide a basis for the pdesy judicial officer to deny a motion for
sanctions.See HSBC Bank USA, Nat. Ass'n v. Ré$b. 3:12—cv—-00668 2013 WL
2177873, at *6 (S.D. W. Va. May 20, 20 18)owever, a court has discretion in managing
its discovery issues and must address motions dorcsons on a case-by-case basis.
Here, the undersigned finds that the Local Rldes not preclude an award of sanctions
for two reasons. First, unlike other secti@mi®ule 37, neither Rule 37(b) nor Rule 26(g)
requires a meet-and-confer session befgsardy may request sanctions. Consequently,
certification of good faith efforts to meahd confer are not a condition precedent under
these federal rules to an award of sancsid®econd, the parties have already conferred
about the document production and the scope oRille 30(b)(6) deposition, and these
matters were the subject of a discovery hiegr Therefore, the parties’ fundamental
disagreements were already narrowed, fldlyefed, and argued prior to the Rule
30(b)(6) deposition. It is highly improb&b that additional discussion between
Plaintiffs counsel and Defendants’ counsebarding Plaintiff's request for sanctions

would have narrowed the issuiesdispute any further.
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Sanctionsunder Rule 26(g)

Plaintiff requests sanctions under Rule 26(g) omre thasis that Defendants
improperly certified that the 4,447 pages of docutagion produced to Plaintiff were
responsive to Plaintiffs discovery requss Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 26(Qg)
provides that discovery responses mustsigmed by the responding party or party’s
attorney certifying to the best of the ngen’s “knowledge, information, and belief
formed after reasonable inquiry” that the discoveegponses are, in relevant part,
“consistent with [the Federal Rules ofwliProcedure],” “not interposed for any
improper purpose, such as to harass, camnsecessary delay, or needlesslyincrease the
cost of litigation,” and “neither unreasonlabnor unduly burdensome or expensive,
considering the needs of the case, prior discgin the case, the amount in controversy,
and the importance of the issues at stakéhmaction.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(g)(1)(B). The
Rule further provides that “[i]f a certificedn violates this rule without substantial
justification,” the court “must impose arppropriate sanction on the signer, the party
on whose behalf the signer was acting, or both jtwlmay include an order to pay the
reasonable expenses, includingoahey’s fees, caused by tlvmlation.” Fed. R. Civ. P.
26(9)(3).

In this case, Plaintiff served the following diseoy requests:

INTERROGATORY NO. 6: Please identify each and every
piece of evidence this Defeadt has showing the initial and
continued placement of the C-1004 pipeline withimet
Ridgewood Subdivision occurred without the pernuossof
any and all predecessors in interest in the propent the
Plaintiff in this action.

ANSWER: Defendant is in the process of gathering
documents reflecting the installation and operabéthe C-

1004 pipeline. Other than the authorization from @ity of
Huntington described in response to Interrogatony H,

13



Defendant is unaware of any documentation thatecesl
permission granted by Plaintiff or any prior ownafrthe
Ridgewood Subdivision.

FIRST SUPPLEMENTAL ANSWER: See documents
bearing bates numbers CABOT 00029 — 004476 sel fiort
the enclosed disc.

INTERROGATORY NO. 7: What evidence does this
Defendant rely on to show th#ie placement of the C-1004
pipeline within the Ridgewood Subdivision was adasror
hostile to the true ownership interest of the presdbsors in
interest to the property, or the plaintiff in thastion.

ANSWER: Defendant has not identified all evidence on
which it will rely to show thathe placement of the C-1004
pipeline within the Ridgewood Subdivision was adesror
hostile to the true ownership interest of the pradsors in
interest to the property, or the plaintiff in thaction.
Defendant has operated the @04 pipeline for over fifty
years, including the portion of the pipeline thahs along a
road known as Woodland Drive located in the Ridgeevo
Subdivision. The pipeline was identified by mulepharkers

in various locations in the Ridgewood Subdivision.

FIRST SUPPLEMENTAL ANSWER: See documents
bearing bates numbers CABOT 00029 — 004476 seh fiort
the enclosed disc.

RFP NO. 6: Copies of all documents of any type which
support the propositions that this Defendant hastgpe of
prescriptive easement or right of way which allothe at
issue pipeline to run across the real estate owmedhe
Plaintiff.

RESPONSE: See documents bearing bates numbers
CABOT 000006-000028. Defendant is still in the prss of
searching for and gathering available documentkecghg

the installation and operation of the C-1004 pipeliOther
than the authorization from thet@iof Huntington described in
response to Interrogatory No. 5, Defendant is unawaf any
documentation that reflects permission granted laynRiff or any
prior owner of the Ridgewood Subdivision.

FIRST SUPPLEMENTAL RESPONSE: See documents
bearing bates numbers CABOT 000029 — 004476 s¢h for
in the enclosed disc.
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(ECF No. 237 at 2-3).

As shown above, Defendants initially pided reasonable responses to Plaintiff's
discovery requests. Moreover, the notatidrat Defendants were still searching for
relevant information was an appropriate wantdify Plaintiffthat a search was ongoing
and additional materials might be focthming. However, Defendants’ supplemental
responses—particularly to the interregaes—simply did not comply with the
requirements or spirit ofthe federal discoyeules, and for that reason, the certification
of the supplemental responseslaited Rule 26(g)(1)(B).

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 33(d) alls a party to supply business records in
response to an interrogatory “if the burdendefriving or ascertaining the answer will
be substantially the same for either parfet. R. Civ. P. 33(d). When business records
are produced in response to an intertogg, the producing party must specify the
records to be reviewed, “in sufficient detail toadre the interrogating party to locate
and identify them as readily as the respondingypeould.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 33(d)(1). As
indicated by the advisory notes to Rule &3responding party abuses the process by
directing an interrogating party to a mass of reigmwithout specifying by category and
location the relevant documenteered. R. Civ. P. 33 advisory committee note to 1980
amendment. Similarly, when answeringr@quest for the production of documents
under Rule 34, the producing party must r@s@ to each requested item or category
separately, so that the interrogating paray discern which documents apply to which
request. Fed. R. Civ. P. 34(b)(2)(B).

Here, Plaintiff asked in interrogatory Nofd the identification of evidence that

showed the C-1004 pipeline was pladdgdough the Ridgewoo&ubdivision without
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permission. Interrogatory No. 7 sought the identdl evidence relied upon by
Defendants to demonstrate its adverse hostile possession of the Ridgewood
Subdivision property. In response to both intertoges, Defendants attached the
entire pipeline file. Defendants did not idéy which particular documents in the file
answered which interrogatory, did not progieny explanation for the relevance of the
complete file to each interrogatory, and did noedfy where in the pipeline file

responsive information could be locateDefendants likewise attached the entire
pipeline file in response to the requdet production of all documents supporting
Defendants’claim of a prescriptive easement.

Defendants do not dispute Plaintiff's contentiomthoneof the 4,447 pages in
the pipeline file directly disgcsses permission or lack of permission for placetoénhe
C-1004 pipeline, adverse possession oé tRidgewood Subdivision, or open and
continuous use of the C-1004 pipelinerabgh the Ridgewood Subdivision. Rather,
Defendants contend that they produced the entipelme file precisely because it
lacked any direct evidence concerning permission gtacement of the pipeline.
Defendants explain that any permission obea for placement of the C-1004 pipeline
through the Ridgewood Subdivision would veabeen placed in the pipeline file.
Consequently, the absence of such docuragon is “circumstantial evidence” that
permission was never obtained.

The undersigned finds two fundamental flaws withfddelants’ post-production
explanation for their supplemental interrogatanswers. First, Defendants implied by
their supplemental responses that the attaathocuments contained evidence showing
a lack of permission or ag@rse possession when, in thyuthey did not. Not untéfter

Plaintiff's counsel had conductedthorough review of eagiage did Defendants explain
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their “absence of documentation” argumeRobnsequently, Plaintiff's counsel spent
hours scouring all 4,447 pages looking fotateons that Defendants knew, in advance,
did not exist.

Defendants argue that producing the pipelifile in response to Interrogatory
Nos. 6 and 7 was “eminently reasonable,” hesmathe questions required them to “prove
a negative.” The undersigned disagrees. Cawytta Defendants’suggestion, responsive
materials directly discussing a lack of passgion or adverse possession might have been
in Defendants’ custody or contrdlt was this direct evidence that Defendants were
asked to identify. Therefore, it was exceegly unreasonable for Defendants to supply
thousands of pages of documents, withoutteat or explanation, which could only be
interpreted as relevant to permission adVerse possession when accompanied by the
pertinent context and explanation.

Defendants further argue that even if ghipeline file is not directly responsive
to the interrogatories, it is responsive te tfequest for production of documents, which
asked Defendants to supply “documents of type which support the propositions that
this Defendant has any type of prescriptiveeaent or right of way which allows the at
issue pipeline to run across the real estate ownellaintiff.” Defendants assert that,
consequently, Plaintiff's counsel would haveem required to review the pipeline file
anyway. While there is some merit to @edants’ position on this point, the

undersigned finds that the failure of Defentlmabo explain in advance the role of the

1 Examples of such documentation include: (1) cepndence from one of Plaintiffs predecessors in
interest refusing to grant permission for the constion of a pipeline through the Ridgewood
Subdivision, (2) internal communications or mematarprepared by Defendants or their predecessors
discussing the lack of written permission or anegasnt on file, and (3) due diligence documents aedat

at the time the pipeline was purchased by De#artd, which confirmed the failure of Defendants’
predecessor to obtain an easement or licensefMiese types of documents would have been directl
responsive to the interrogatories.
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pipeline file in relation to the interrogates caused Plaintiffs counsel to alter the
manner in which they reviewedélpipeline file. Certainly, iPlaintiffs counsel had been
told before their review that the pipeé file was being produced to show alnsen ceof
documentation discussing permission foagdment of the C-1004 pipeline, counsel
would not have spent hours searching for that \ewgumentation. Accordingly, the
Court finds that Defendants’ supplementakponses to Interrogatory Nos. 6 and 7
caused Plaintiff to needlessly incudditional attorneys’ fees.

Second, Defendants’justification for indigminately producing the pipeline file
in response to Plaintiff's interrogatories dssingenuous. Defendants assert that the
pipeline file was produced to show thebsence of any documentation reflecting
permission for the pipeline’s placement. If tyaleen it is significant that Defendants did
not, until questioned and orded by the Court, also prode the C-1004 “land file,”
which “includes deeds, easements, and othed-related documents for the pipeline.”
(Id. at 4). By Defendants’ own admission, ashgcuments reflecting permission for the
pipeline “would likely have beeplaced in the pipeline filer land file.” (Id.) (emphasis
added). Defendants contend that neither fidudes any permission relating to the real
property at issue, yet Defendants only produced phgeline file. Therefore, if
Defendants truly believed that the interrogag¢s required them to “prove a negative,”
they should have contemporaneously produced the fédg While the Court does not
intend to suggest that the production of béildss would have beea proper response to
the interrogatories, the above factor demmines Defendants’ post-production
explanation concerning the reasonableness of piogithe pipeline file.

The term “document dump”is often usedreder to the production of voluminous

and mostly unresponsive documents without iferation of specific pages or portions
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of documents which are respouwsito the discovery requestSee, e.g.U.S. S.E.C. v.
Elfindepan, S.A.206 F.R.D. 574, 576—-77 (M.D.N.C. 200 8tooksbury v. Ros5828 F.
App'x 547, 550 (6th Cir. 2013). Such a ti@atan bury relevant evidence and force the
receiving party to expend considerable time andeege parsing through documents in
order to glean information which may be relevamt.this case, the Court agrees with
Plaintiff that Defendants’ actions conttied a “document dump” and were improper
under the discovery rules. When attadpibhe pipeline file to the supplemental
responses, Defendants improperly certifiedt the production was consistent with the
discovery rules and was not unreasonablemduly burdensome. Therefore, the Court
finds that sanctions are warranted under Rule Z8{g)

Sanctionsunder Rule 37(b)

Equally troubling are the circumstancesmsaunding the Rule 30(b)6) deposition
in this case. Rule 37(b) authorizes the Cdonimpose sanctions where a party or person
designated under Rule 30(b)(6) fails “to oleyorder to provide or permit discovery.”
Fed.R.Civ.P. 37(b)(2)(A). Plaintiff assertsatththe Court ordered Defendants to present
a Rule 30(b)(6) witness who could testifygegding the relevance and applicability of
the documents in the pipeline file to thaichs and defenses the case. Nonetheless,
Defendants presented a witness that was epared to answer reasonable questions on
the topics approved for the deposition.

It is well-established across jurisdictions thgi]fioducing an unprepared [Rule
30(b)(6)] witness is tantamount to a failure to app.” United States v. Taylorl66
F.R.D. 356, 363 (M.D.N.C.nff'd, 166 F.R.D. 367 (M.D.N.C. 1996). The corporation or
entity named in a 30(b)(6) notice “must make a gdmith effort to designate people

with knowledge of the matter sought by tbeposing party and to adequately prepare
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its representatives so that they may gommplete, knowledgeable, and nonevasive
answers in deposition3picer v. Universal For& Prod., E. Div., InG.No. 7:07CV462,
2008 WL 4455854, at *3 (W.D. Va. Oct. 10@8). In the event that a party or person
produces an unprepared 30(b)(6) witngb® Court may impose any of the sanctions
listed in Rule 37(b)(2)(A)(i)-(vi), which range fnro the imposition of costs to the entry
of default judgment. Fed. R. Civ. P. 37(d)(3). Fhet, “[iinstead of or addition to” the
foregoing sanctions, the Court “must recuithe party failing to act, the attorney
advising that party, or both to pay theas®nable expenses, inding attorney’s fees,
caused by the failure, unless the da#@ was substantially justified or other
circumstances make an award of expenses unjist.

Defendants explicitly agreed, and werethordered by the Court, to produce a
witness to testify “regarding the relevancytbé pipeline file documents and the role the
documents play in supporting Defendants’claims detenses.” (ECF Nos. 162 at 6-7,
237 at 5-6). Notably, Defendants challenged thepscof Plaintiffs Rule 30(b)(6)
Notices, but did not object to this topic. GE No. 237 at 5-6). However, at the Rule
30(b)(6) deposition, Defendants offerediadividual who, whie knowledgeable about
the “operation of the pipeline,” had no é&wledge of the claims and counterclaims in
this action. (ECF No. 182-3 at 7). It is axiomatltat an individual who has no
knowledge ofthe claims and @@ ses will be hard-pressedpoovide accurate testimony
connecting the documents at istoghose claims and defenses.

It is clear from the deposition transgtithat Mr. Barrett was not adequately
prepared to explain how the documents in pipeeline file were reevant to Defendants’
claims and defenses. Defendants explicitlyessgl to designate an individual to explain

how the documents producemdere relevant and responsive to the interrogatories
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Further, “a corporation is expected dceatean appropriate witness or witnesses from
information reasonably available to it if necessar@BE Ins. Corp. v. Jorda
Enterprises, In¢.277 F.R.D. 676, 689 (S.D. Fla. 2012) (citidglson v. Lakner228
F.R.D. 524, 529 (D. Md. 2005). This mayciaode “information [that] was transmitted
through the corporation’s lawyerdd. (citingGreat Am.Ins. Co.of N.Y.v. Vegas Const.
Co, 251 F.R.D. 534, 542 (D. Nev. 2008). Nantly is a corporate designee required to
“testify about facts within the corporationé®llective knowledge, [..] but the designee
must also testify about the corporation’s positibaliefs and opiniondd. (citingGreat
Am., 251 F.R.D. at 539Taylor, 166 F.R.D. at 362 (designee presents corporation's
“position,” its “subjective beliefs and opinionsid its “interpretation of documents and
events”)).

Defendants assert in their memorandtimat the pipeline file documents are
relevant to Plaintiffs discovery requedbecause they show the continuous, open, and
adverse use ofthe section of pipeline at is§HEF No. 237 at 5). However, that position
was not reflected with any detail in Mr. Bett's testimony. Mr. Barrett provided only a
rote response stating that the file showied absence of permission, but continuous use;
this testimony only potentially touched onnse of the elements stated in Defendants’
memorandum. (ECF No. 182-3). While the Court catrapolate from Defendants’
memorandum and representations at the hearing sloate of the pipeline file
documents may be relevant to Defendantaimls or defenses in this action, that
testimony was not communicated in the R3@(b)(6) deposition. Defendants were
obligated to prepare Mr. Barrett to provittmplete, knowledgeable, and nonevasive
answers” on behalf of Defendants regamglmach of the documents contained in the

pipeline file.Spicer, 2008 WL 4455854, at *3. This was not done.
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Finding that Defendants failed to produan adequately prepared Rule 30(b)(6)
witness in this case, the Court considers the isdw@propriate sanctions. As noted, a
range of sanctions is available for produxi@n unprepared Rule 30(b)(6) witness. Of
the available sanctions, Plaintiff asks for an agvaf attorneys’ fees and costs. The
undersigned concludes that an award of spmr¢ion of the claimed attorneys’fees and
costs is equitable in view of Defendants’ violatson

C. Calculation of Attorneys’Fees and Costs

Plaintiff requests reimbursement of $19,493.32 ttomeys’ fees and costs.
When calculating an award of reasonalded and costs, the Court must “determine a
lodestar figure by multiplying the number of reaabte hours expended times a
reasonable rateRobinson v. Equifax fiormation Services, LL(560 F.3d 235, 243
(4th Cir. 2009) (citingGrissom v. The Mills Corp549 F.3d 313, 320 (4th Cir. 2008)).
The United States Court of Appeals for theuFin Circuit has identified twelve factors
to consider when making this debteination, including the following:

(1) the time and labor expended;) (the novelty and difficulty of the

guestions raised; (3) the skill reqgad to properly perform the legal

services rendered; (4) the attornegpportunity costs in pressing the
instant litigation; (5) the customargé for like work; (6) the attorney’s
expectations at the outset of the litigation; (¥¢ time limitations imposed

by the client or circumstances;)(8he amount in controversy and the

results obtained; (9) the experience, reputatiod almility of the attorney;

(10) the undesirability of the casetin the legal community in which the

suit arose; (11) the nature and length of the prsifenal relationship

between attorney and client; and (EXyorneys’ fees awards in similar

cases.

Robinson 560 F.3d at 243-244 (citing JohnsorGa. Highway Express, Inc., 488 F.2d
714 (5th Cir. 1974)).

Beginning with the hourly rate, the Court notesttR&intiff is represented by an

associate attorney and two experiencedyditors. The three attorneys were actively
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involved in discovery, and they each esg time either reviewing documents or
participating in the Rule 30(b)(6) depositidplaintiff requests hourly rates of $350.00
for Mr. Fredeking and Mr. Biser and $250.6d Mr. Poole, but does not provide any
information as to how these rates comptordhe rates charged in the community by
similarly situated and experiead attorneys performing similar tasks. Notwithstarg
the lack of this comparison, the Court ctake notice that reviewing documents and
deposing a Rule 30(b)(6) designee are tasksinely performed by litigation attorneys.
Therefore, a reasonable hourfte in this case would e consistent with the market
rate of a general litigator practicing withthe Southern District of West Virginiad.
HSBC Bank USA, Nat. Ass'n v. ReNb. 3:12—cv-00668 2013 WL 2177873, at *6 (S.D.
W. Va. May 20, 2013) (citingPlyler v. Evatt902 F.2d 273, 277 (4th Cir. 1990)). The
duty to provide evidence of the prevaililmgurly rate rests with the party seeking an
award of feesld. Plaintiff did not provide evidence gfevailing hourly rates. However,
Defendants did not object to the rates sethfdoy Plaintiff, and the proposed hourly
rates are comparable to those awarded in othersdasehis district for other types of
litigation. See Resh2013 WL 2177873, at *6 (tlecting cases). Therefore, the
undersigned finds that the hdyrates requested by Plaifftare reasonable for the type
of work performed (real property litigationjhe skill required to perform the services
rendered (analyzing discovery responspegparing for and conducting a 30(b)(6)
deposition, and seeking sanctions for a falte comply with the discovery rules); the
customary fee for such work; and the expecienreputation, and ability of Plaintiff's
attorneys.

Having determined the reasonable higurates in this case, the Court next

examines the number of howlaimed by Plaintiff. Rul87 and Rule 26(g)(3) allow the
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Court to award the reasonable expenses, inglydttorney’s fees, that were caused by
the disobedient party’s (or counsel’s) fakurThe undersigned finds that some time
incurred in reviewing the pipeline file watearly “caused by” the Defendants’ failures
to abide by the discovery rules when productihe pipeline file. On the other hand, at
least a portion of the time spent reviewing thipeline file would have been incurred by
Plaintiff, as some portion of the file is relevatot Defendants’ prescriptive easement
claim, particularly to show the continuouserption and use of the pipeline. In regard
to the Rule 30(b)(6) deposition, if Defendants hpdoperly responded to the
interrogatory requests, Plaintiff may not hanexjuired a Rule 30(b)(6) deposition to
explain the relevance of the documents. The mammeahich Defendants supplied the
pipeline file created confusion, and thabtnfusion resulted in the Rule 30(b)(6)
deposition. Defendants added to the fumion (and simultaneously waived an
argument that the Rule 30(b)(6) depositwas unnecessary) by explicitly agreeing to
produce a witness who could testify about thlevance of each document in the pipeline
file. Therefore, the Court finds that a portiofthe time expended reviewing the pipeline
file and conducting the Rule 30(b)(6) degtoon is attributable to Defendants’
noncompliance with the discovery rules.

Defendants argue that Plaintiff's feesdagxpenses are not supported by adequate
evidence and were not reasonably necessaGk (Bo. 237 at 18 Defendants challenge
Plaintiffs statement of attorney’s fees, pointiagt that it contains “an even 20 hours”
each for two attorneys to review the docunmeeiiut does not spegithe date(s) that the
time was incurred, the activities on eachtelaand the amount of time spent on each
date. (d. at 17). Further, Defendants contend ttted 16 hours of travel for the 30(b)(6)

deposition was unnecessary because Rfaitknew full well what Defendants [sic]
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position was before the deposition” and “didt have to conduct the deposition to find
out.” (Id.). “When reviewing a fee petition, th@urt must exclude any hours that are
excessive, redundant, or otherwise unnecessaijién v. Monsanto Compangp07
WL 1859046 at *2 (S.D.W.Va., June 26, 2007) (citihgnsley y v. Eckerhar61 U.S.
424,434,103 .Ct. 1933, 76 L.Ed.2d 40 (1983ounsel for a prevailing party has a duty
to exercise billing judgment’ to ‘exclud#om a fee request hours that are excessive,
redundant or otherwise unnecessary, justadawyer in private practice ethically is
obligated to exclude such hours from his fee sulsiors. . .” Daly v. Hill, 790 F.2d 1071,
1079 (4th Cir. 1986) (quotingensley 461 U.S. at 434)).

Defendants produced 4,447 pages otuiments. Despite Plaintiff's failure to
provide the dates on which the documentsevesviewed, Plaintiff provided sufficient
support for the Court to conclude thatetlfiorty hours incurred was reasonable and
related to document review. Given the numbépages in the pipeline file, Plaintiff's
attorneys spent approximately thirty-twocsads reviewing each page, which is an
objectively reasonable pace. As previoustated, a percentage of the time spent in
document review would have been incurred despitee@ants’ ill-advised manner of
production. Nonetheless, given that the documenésewimproperly produced in
response to the interrogatories, and the mannprarfuction heightened the attention
given to the documents by Plaintiffs counsel, tinedersigned finds that Plaintiff is
entitled to reimbursement of one-half tifie time spent in document review. Two
attorneys reviewed the documents, each sjregn equal amounts of time, at rates of
$250.00 and $350.00 per hour. Therefore,@loert deducts 10 hours of time at each

rate for a total of $6,000.
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In regard to the deposition, two of Plaiifi¢ attorneys attended the Rule 30(b)(6)
deposition, and Plaintiff seeks reimbursememttfoth fees. Plaintiff offers no argument
to justify why it was necessary for two attornegsattend the deposition, and the Court
does not independently find any evidenbeat it was necessary given the scope and
purpose of the deposition. Plaintiff does not caafjle the amount of time spent on the
deposition and the Court finds that it repretsea reasonable figure given the fact that
counsel traveled from Huntington, Westrd§inia to Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania for the
deposition and the deposition itself lasedthost two hours. The attorneys had the same
rate of $350.00 per hour and each expen®lbdurs related to the deposition. Therefore,
the Court deducts $2,800 from the attorney’s fespuested by Plaintiff.

Aside from Defendants’ argument thette Rule 30(b)(6) deposition was not
reasonably necessary, which the Court firtdsbe without merit, Defendants’ only
challenge to Plaintiffs claimed expenses iatiPlaintiffs counsel should have driven to
the deposition rather than flying in private plane and renting a car. Somewhat
surprisingly, in this case, the expensesulWohave been the same, if not more, for
counsel to drive to the deposition. Riaff's claimed expenses total $1,00323fbr
airplane rental, airplane fuel, and a rental ¢however, Plaintiff cims only 8 hours in
attorney’s fees related to the depositionuRd-trip travel by car between Huntington,
West Virginia and Pittsburgh, Pennsylvanis approximately 9 hours. Therefore,
factoring in travel time, the nearly two-hodeposition, parking, and at least one meal,
Plaintiff could easily have incurred 11 hoursdttorney’s fees related to the deposition.

Plaintiff would have also been entitletb mileage reimbursement at the current

2 Plaintiff also requests $819.51 for “document doy’ but provides no cogent explanation as to why
Plaintiff found it necessary to copy all of the diotents for the deposition. Therefore, that expersse i
denied.
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standard IRS rate of 54 cents per mile &pproximately 556 miles, totaling $300.24.
Therefore, given the additional hours of atteyis fees at a rate $350.00 per hour and
the mileage reimbursement, it would likelyyeabeen equally as expensive for Plaintiff's
counsel to drive to the deposition.

Defendants do not challenge the remainder of Pifientclaimed expenses.
Plaintiff submits a bill totaling $90.44 for ch. The receipt is not itemized, but based
on the cost and the fact that no other mregteipts are included, it appears that the
receipt included lunch for both attorneys.ul) the Court will splithe bill in half and
award only half of the claimecheal expenses to Plaintiff.

Overall, deducting $2,800 in redundaattorney’s fees and $45.22 in lunch
expenses related to the 30(b)(6) depositionyalsas another $6,000 in attorney’s fees
related to reviewing the pipeline file frothe claimed total of $19,493.32, the Court
finds that Plaintiff is entitled to reimbursemt of attorneys’ fees and costs in the total
amount ofTen Thousand Six Hundred Forty-Eight Dollars and Ten Cents
($10,648.10) Defendants ar®RDERED to pay Plaintiff this amount withibhirty
(30) daysofthe date of this Order.

The Clerk is instructed to provide a gopf this Order to counsel of record.

ENTERED: November 30, 2016

Chepfl A\Eifert /
Unijted St*es Magistrate Judge

N——"
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